91527-0 FILED COURT OF APPEALS 2015 APR -6 AM 9: 18 STATE OF WASHINGTON Supreme Court No. Court of Appeals No. 42988-8-II Pierce County Superior Court No. 10-2-05228-9-DEPUTY SUPREME COURT APR -7 2015 OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT

CITY OF BONNEY LAKE, a Municipal Corporation,

RESPONDENT,

v.

ROBERT KANANY,

PETITIONER.

PETITION FOR REVIEW (RAP 13.4)

RHYS A. STERLING, P.E., J.D. By: Rhys A. Sterling, #13846 Attorney for Petitioner Robert Kanany

P.O. Box 218 Hobart, Washington 98025-0218 Telephone: 425-432-9348 Facsimile: 425-413-2455 Email: RhysHobart@hotmail.com

į

ORIGINAL

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Robert Kanany (Kanany) is the Petitioner and he resides in the City of Bonney Lake and the County of Pierce, at 7410 182nd Avenue East, Bonney Lake, Washington 98391.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS' DECISIONS

The Part Published Opinion and Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration of the Court of Appeals, Division II, that Kanany requests this Court to review were filed on December 30, 2014, and on March 12, 2015, respectively. *See* APPENDIX, at APP-1 (Part Published Opinion); and at APP-18 (Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The issues Kanany presents to this Court for review include:

- 1. Whether the Hearing Examiner system used by the City of Bonney Lake to enforce civil monetary fines for violation of its zoning code (*i.e.*, civil infractions) is not complete and therefore unconstitutional and unenforceable under the Supreme Court's decision in *Post v. City of Tacoma*, 167 Wn.2d 300, 217 P.3d 1179 (2009)?
- 2. Whether the daily monetary fines of \$1,000 assessed by the City of Bonney Lake against Kanany for violation of its zoning code accruing to an amount of \$48,000 over an arbitrary period and subject to only a single available administrative appeal under Bonney Lake's Land Use Code and Hearing Examiner system constitutes an excessive fine that is unconstitutional under Wash. Const. art. I, § 14; *Post*, 167 Wn.2d at 312-13; RCW 7.80.120; and Supreme Court Rule, IRLJ 6.2?
- 3. Whether the co-owner of real property on which the City alleges zoning code violations and the threat of substantial monetary penalties and possible abatement actions must be joined as a necessary and indispensable party to any code enforcement and civil collection action as mandated by the applicable statute (*i.e.*, the BLMC), the absence of whom denies the tribunal subject matter jurisdiction?

PETITION FOR REVIEW -- PAGE 1 OF 20

- 4. Whether no ADU exists as a matter of fact, or the City is equitably estopped from denying that the use of the area over the garage on Kanany's duplex property does not constitute an ADU in violation of the zoning code where the City admits that there has been no change to the conditions of use expressly set forth and promised by the City in 2004 and as reaffirmed in writing since then, with the satisfaction of such conditions precluding such area from being an ADU?
- 5. Whether that provision of the City's zoning code which is the basis for the City's Code Enforcement action against Kanany conflicts with the State Growth Management Act and is inconsistent with its own Comprehensive Plan in violation of Wash. Const. art. XI, § 11?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

In January 2004 Kanany purchased a duplex-zoned R-2 lot on 191^{st} St. E. in the City of Bonney Lake (the "Subject Property").¹ By Quit Claim Deed dated April 16, 2004, Kanany conveyed the Subject Property to himself and to Navid Kanani, a married man as his separate estate, as tenants in common; a co-ownership they share to this day. CP at 202 ¶ 4; CP at 208-09. In March 2004 Kanany contracted with Frontier Contractors Inc to submit building permit applications to the City of Bonney Lake to build a Duplex and a two story detached Accessory Garage with 720 sq. ft. of heated area above on the Subject Property.² The permits were issued on May 4, 2004. A copy of the permit for the detached garage that Kanany obtained during the pendency of this lawsuit notes as Condition of Approval #1 that the

PETITION FOR REVIEW -- PAGE 2 OF 20

¹ Clerk's Papers (CP) at 202 ¶ 4 (Declaration of Robert Kanany).

 $^{^2}$ Kanany intended to use that area for residential-related purposes, including use by guests of tenants, recreational use, and other such uses, and similar in scope and purpose to at least three other existing duplex-ADU combinations in the City. CP at 202 \P 5; CP at 211.

"Detached garage shall not be converted into living space pursuant to Bonney Lake Municipal Code Section 18.22.090(C)(1)".³ However, it was not until final inspection upon completion of construction that Frontier told him that the City Inspector had just informed the contractor that it was the heated area over the garage that could not be used as living space, and not conversion of the entire garage itself. CP at 202 ¶ 7. This was the first time that anyone brought to Kanany's attention an issue regarding the use of the area above the garage for residential-related purposes. Kanany promptly had a meeting with Planning & Community Development Director Bob Leedy and City Engineer John Woodcock specifically regarding the use of the area above the garage, and at which meeting there was an agreement reached among Kanany and the City officials that the area above the garage could be used for residential-related purposes as long as it did not have a kitchen stove and washer/dryer; as to which Kanany fully complied.⁴ It was also agreed at that meeting that Kanany could only have two leases for the duplex and the area above the garage if occupied in any way must be under the same lease as one of the duplexes; as to which Kanany agreed to comply with this restriction as well.5

PETITION FOR REVIEW -- PAGE 3 OF 20

³ CP at 202 ¶ 6; CP at 211-12. The Bonney Lake Municipal Code is also referred to hereinafter as the "BLMC".

⁴ CP at 203 ¶ 8; CP at 304 ¶ 3 (date of the meeting was actually in May or soon thereafter).

³ CP at 203 ¶ 9. All that Kanany subsequently did and didn't do with respect to his duplex property was in good faith reliance based on that 2004 meeting with responsible City officials and the City's continued affirmation of that express agreement since that 2004 meeting.

Although Kanany and his tenants of the duplex were in complete compliance with the conditions of the agreement reached in 2004, and the City produced no evidence to the contrary, Kanany received a Notice of Civil Violation and Penalties signed by City Code Enforcement Office Denney Bryan dated February 22, 2007, alleging that Kanany was in violation of BLMC § 18.22.090 for "Utilizing/Converting portion of structure as an Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU)" as having someone living in the area above the garage at the duplex on the Subject Property. CP at 203 ¶ 10; CP at 214. Kanany promptly contacted Mr Bryan by telephone on March 7, 2007, and then confirmed their conversation by letter sent to him dated March 9, 2007. CP at 203 ¶ 11; CP at 216. Because the space above the garage was in fact rented by one of the tenants of a duplex unit on the Subject Property and no kitchen stove was installed as confirmed by the City's inspection, Kanany was found to be in complete compliance with the terms and conditions mutually agreed to in the meeting with the City back in 2004 and the area above the garage was not an ADU; thus, no violation of City Code existed and the City silently withdrew its Notice of Violation. CP at 203 ¶ 11.

Although the City admits that nothing had changed in the duplex tenancy and use of the area above the garage, in 2008 the City received yet another complaint from, it is assumed, a neighboring property owner prompting Code Enforcement Officer Bryan to contact Kanany again and, once more, discussed and confirmed as allowed the use of the area above the garage by a tenant. CP at 204 ¶ 12; CP at 218. Discovery produced a letter dated June 20, PETITION FOR REVIEW -- PAGE 4 OF 20 2008 from Code Enforcement Officer Denney Bryan to Russ Rudolph (the complaining neighbor) confirming to him that "upon investigating your complaint regarding the [Subject Property] it has been determined that no violation is present [and that] upon inspection of the property, including discussions with the planning and building departments, [there is] satisfactory evidence that the area [above the garage] did not violate the ADU provision of the Bonney Lake Municipal Code." CP at 204 ¶ 12; CP at 220. What was now becoming an annual event and bordering on harassment, by letter dated August 5, 2009, Code Enforcement Officer Denney Bryan once again asserted that the City had received a complaint and alleged that the "occupancy of a space above [the] detached garage [was] an accessory dwelling unit."⁶ Subsequently there were several exchanges of voice mail messages between Kanany and City Code Enforcement Officer Denney Bryan in which Kanany clearly stated to Bryan that nothing had changed with his tenant who occupied the area over the garage under his lease of one of the duplex units; and in response to which communication Kanany received the following voice message from Code Enforcement Officer Bryan:

PETITION FOR REVIEW -- PAGE 5 OF 20

⁶ CP at 204 ¶ 13; CP at 222-23. Contrary to any inference in the Declaration of Director of Community Development Department John Vodopich in support of the City of Bonney Lake's Motion for Summary Judgment, mere "occupancy of a space above a detached garage on the Property" is not alone satisfactory use to constitute an accessory dwelling unit under the City Municipal Code, as was clearly explained to Kanany at his 2004 meeting with City officials and in subsequent correspondence with City Code Enforcement (*e.g.*, use of the area as a bedroom and recreation room is a permissible use and does not convert the area to an ADU). CP at 305 ¶ 5; CP at 218 and 220 (Kanany Declaration, *Exhibits 5 and 6*). According to City officials, including Mr. Vodopich, as long as there were no kitchen stove and washer/dryer in the area over the garage, the otherwise residential use of that area would not make such an accessory dwelling unit. CP at 216 (Kanany Declaration, *Exhibit 4*).

Hi Mr Kanany. Thank you for getting back to me and sorry I didn't get back to you yesterday. This is Denney with the City of Bonney Lake. I do guess the letter you are proposing would definitely be a benefit at this point. Actually today I am meeting with the City Attorney, and I will be discussing this matter briefly with him. But I do think a letter outlining the leases that you have on the duplexes and utilization of the space above the garage could be helpful. At this point it appears to be a non issue but I want to make sure we are on the up and up as we proceed with this. I do have a complainant that keeps making an issue of this and I believe that he's bringing this before the council and I want to make sure all of our bases are covered as we proceed. Anyway, if you can get that letter to me that would be great. If you have any other questions or any information you can go ahead and leave a voice mail and I will do my best to get back to you as soon as possible. Thank you.

CP at 204-05 ¶ 14.⁷ Kanany promptly followed up on this response and hand delivered to the City for Mr Bryan a letter dated August 20, 2009 detailing the tenancy, conditions of compliance as agreed in 2004, and a copy of the relevant duplex unit lease. CP at 205 ¶ 15; CP at 225. Nevertheless, in November 2009 Kanany received yet another Notice of Civil Violation from the City alleging once again that he was in violation of BLMC § 18.22.090 (C)(1) stemming from "the above-garage living space at the Property was being illegally used as an ADU". CP at 205-06 ¶ 16; CP at 227-28. The Notice also asserted that Kanany had not contacted the City within its designated 45-day window to confirm compliance⁸ – a fact that was simply

PETITION FOR REVIEW -- PAGE 6 OF 20

⁷ Mr Bryan's voice message to Kanany was recorded on CD and filed with, and admitted by, the trial court as evidence in the summary judgment proceeding. CP at 346-47; CP at 348.

⁸ After Kanany hand delivered his letter and supporting documents to the City dated August 20, 2009, and having heard or received nothing further from the City Code Enforcement Officer, Mr Bryan, thereafter, Kanany believed that the issue of residential use of the area over the detached garage at his duplex property had once again been resolved to the satisfac-(continued...)

not true in light of the many voice messages between Kanany and Code Enforcement Officer Denney Bryan, culminating with Kanany's letter to Bryan dated (and hand delivered) August 20, 2009. CP at 225. This collection action stems from that particular Notice of Violation.

In sum, the area above the detached garage on the Subject Property has not been used as an independent living area with the requisite appliances proscribed by the City and has never constituted an Accessory Dwelling Unit consistent with Kanany's many meetings and conversations with City Code Enforcement and Planning Department officials, including their site inspections, since 2004. CP at 206 ¶ 17. Kanany has been in continuous compliance with the express and specific instructions given him in 2004 by the

PETITION FOR REVIEW -- PAGE 7 OF 20

⁸(...continued)

tion of the City just as had occurred in 2007 and again in 2008. CP at 305 ¶ 4. When Kanany received the City of Bonney Lake's Notice of Violation dated November 18, 2009, he was under the good faith belief that this was an oversight by the City in light of (a) the express agreement between Kanany and responsible City officials in 2004 that so long as there were no kitchen stove and washer/dryer, and only two leases for the two duplex units, that the area over the detached garage on his duplex property could be used for residential purposes and not constitute an accessory dwelling unit; (b) the fact that the City issued and then dropped without giving Kanany further notice a similar Notice of Violation alleging the same violations for his duplex property in February 2007; and (c) Kanany's letter dated and hand delivered to the City on August 20, 2009, with supporting documents, that very clearly restated the facts that the use of the area over the garage was the same as had occurred during the previous 5 years all under the express agreement with the responsible City officials as to what specific appliances must be omitted from the area so as not to constitute an accessory dwelling unit. CP at 305-06 ¶ 6. In good faith reliance on Kanany's express agreement with responsible City officials Leedy and Woodcock, the continuous use of the area over the detached garage on his duplex property for residential purposes during the previous 5 years all with the specific knowledge and approval of City officials and Code Enforcement, and the facts that there were only two leases for the duplex units and the area over the garage had no kitchen stove and washer/dryer pursuant to the City's express promises to him that such omissions would preclude the area over the garage from being an accessory dwelling unit under the City Municipal Code as he once more restated in his August 20, 2009 letter, Kanany put the November 2009 Notice aside and considered the matter closed just as had occurred with the City-issued February 2007 Notice of Violation. CP at 306 ¶ 7.

Planning Director and City Engineer,⁹ and the City has produced no evidence of noncompliance with such conditions through its numerous site inspections conducted over the years since 2004.¹⁰

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

The City of Bonney Lake commenced the underlying civil action seeking collection of substantial monetary fines¹¹ alleging that Kanany's duplex property was in violation of the City's zoning code for having an illegal Accessory Dwelling Unit located thereon. CP at 72 ¶ 3.10. The City contends that the underlying civil action is but a collection effort and is merely adjunct to its Notice of Civil Violation dated November 18, 2009, served solely on and naming only Robert Kanany as the owner of the Subject Property. Because the City initially identified the wrong real property as the situs of the alleged violations, the City moved for leave to amend its

PETITION FOR REVIEW -- PAGE 8 OF 20

⁹ Kanany has fully and continuously complied with the conditions of the agreement between him and the City made in 2004. This present action is purely political as the City has bowed to neighbor pressure, abrogated its clear application of Code requirements to the use of the area over the garage on Kanany's duplex property, and has breached their express agreement all to Kanany's substantial injury and loss of income. Kanany has been forced at substantial expense and time to defend himself and his property in this collection action by the City attempting to enrich itself unjustly from alleged violations that, according to City officials in 2004, would not and did not occur as it clearly found and concluded over the years.

¹⁶ The City failed to honor its express promise to Kanany made in good faith with its responsible officials Leedy and Woodcock in 2004 regarding the use of the area over the garage and forced him to vacate the tenant-related occupant from that area in about July 2010. The area over the garage was used by the brother of one of the duplex tenants as a bedroom/recreation room, the use of which area for such purpose was included in the single lease of the brother tenant for an additional \$750 per month. Since the City forced Kanany to vacate the area over the garage, both brothers have left the duplex and Kanany has lost that added income. The area over the garage has been vacant since July 2010. CP at 307 ¶ 9.

¹¹ The City contends that the monetary fine to which it is entitled to be assessed as a lien against the Subject Property accrued at the rate of \$1,000 per day since November 21, 2009. CP at 74 ¶ 4.4 (Amended Complaint For Monies Owed).

Complaint. Kanany objected to leave being granted because, inter alia, Kanany's co-owner Navid Kanani was neither named nor served in any of the proceedings. As part of that motion, the trial court also considered the constitutionality of the City's process and procedure for assessing and reviewing monetary fines under the Supreme Court's decision in Post v. City of Tacoma, 167 Wn.2d 300, 217 P.3d 1179 (2009). The trial court erroneously ruled that the City's program was constitutional, that Navid Kanani was not a necessary and indispensable party, and granted the City leave to amend its Complaint. Thereafter, the parties agreed to have the trial court dispose of all issues and defenses regarding and relating to the Complaint on cross-motions for summary judgment. After briefing and hearing, the trial court granted the City's motion for summary judgment and denied Kanany's cross-motion for summary judgment, and granted the City judgment for the entire amount of the fine equal to \$48,000. Kanany then appealed to the Court of Appeals, Division 2. That Court issued its Part Published Opinion on December 30, 2014. Kanany moved for reconsideration which was denied on March 12, 2015.

V. ARGUMENT

The lower courts have erroneously confirmed the City's entitlement to assessing, enforcing and collecting through its unconstitutional Hearing Examiner "one and done" system excessive monetary fines against Kanany for doing nothing other than what the City had expressly promised him he could do with the space above the detached garage on his duplex property. The lower courts erred as a matter of law because (1) the enforcement system PETITION FOR REVIEW -- PAGE 9 OF 20 for assessing civil penalties against citizens for alleged violations of the municipal zoning code is unconstitutional under the Supreme Court's *Post* decision; (2) equitable estoppel was failed to be applied to preclude Bonney Lake from assessing civil fines against Kanany in contravention to its express and continued promises to him that the use of the area over the garage on his duplex property did not constitute an ADU; (3) the City failed to join the co-owner of the Subject Property as an indispensable party; and (4) the provision of the zoning code sought to be enforced against Kanany conflicts with other provisions in the Code, its own Comprehensive Plan, and with general State law, and is therefore unconstitutional and invalid.

A. Because The City's Hearing Examiner System Is Not A Complete System That Is Comparable To The Judicial System Under Chapter 7.80 RCW, The Court Of Appeals' Decision Conflicts With This Court's *Post* Decision – RAP 13.4(b)(1)

Both the Superior Court and the Court of Appeals misconstrued and misapplied this Court's clear holdings in *Post* that require an administrative system employed by a municipality to enforce the assessment of civil fines for alleged violations of municipal code infractions to be a complete system comparable with a system administered by the judiciary under and pursuant to the provisions of chapter 7.80 RCW.

The Court of Appeals opined that the complete system analysis under *Post* was applicable only in the context of a LUPA (Land Use Petition Act, Chapter 36.70C RCW) appeal. *Post* presents no such contextual limitation, and this Court should take this opportunity to correct any such misconcep-

PETITION FOR REVIEW -- PAGE 10 OF 20 tions regarding the applicability of *Post's* significant holdings. Unlike the property owner in *Post* who brought suit himself against the City of Tacoma seeking declaratory and injunctive relief and recovery of fines paid, here Kanany is defending himself and his property rights and interests in a lawsuit brought against him by the City of Bonney Lake seeking to collect money it claims owed to it by Kanany imposed by the City as civil infraction monetary fines stemming from a land use code enforcement action solely subject to adjudication under a Hearing Examiner system in lieu of under the jurisdiction and administration of a court.¹² Whereas in *Post*, the trial court on summary judgment and this same Court of Appeals affirmed the dismissal of that lawsuit on grounds that it was not brought in accordance with the provisions of LUPA, this Court merely held that LUPA did not bar Post's independent lawsuit for declaratory and injunctive relief and recovery of fines paid to the City of Tacoma. This Court did not limit or otherwise

PETITION FOR REVIEW -- PAGE 11 OF 20

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