RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON May 04, 2015, 1:34 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

# NO. 91527-0 COURT OF APPEALS NO. 42988-8-II

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF BONNEY LAKE,

Respondent,

 $\nu$ .

ROBERT KANANY,

Petitioner.

### CITY'S ANSWER TO KANANY'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Andrea L. Bradford WSBA #45748 Attorney for City of Bonney Lake

PORTER FOSTER RORICK LLP Attorneys at Law 800 Two Union Square 601 Union Street Seattle, Washington 98101 Tel: (206) 622-0203

Fax: (206) 223–2003



#

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals' decision correctly applied the law and provides no basis for review by this Court. Under RAP 13.4(b), a petition for review may only be accepted by this Court if:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Review is not warranted under any of these four criteria.

Accordingly, this Court should deny the petition for review.

# A. The Court of Appeals' Decision does not Conflict with Post v. City of Tacoma

Kanany contends the relevant provisions of Title 14 of the BLMC deprived him of due process.<sup>4</sup> The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the City's code did not deprive Kanany of due process, stating "Kanany was given the full opportunity to appeal all aspects of the notice of civil violation." *Kanany*, 340 P.3d at 970; Appendix at 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Title 14 of the BLMC has been revised since the 2009 events underlying this lawsuit. Copies of the former municipal code provisions, BLMC 14.120 and BLMC 14.130, are in the record at CP 59-66.

Kanany contends that the Court of Appeals' decision in this case conflicts with this Court's decision in *Post*, 167 Wn.2d 300, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1). The Court of Appeals discussed *Post* at length and concluded it was distinguishable, correctly applying this Court's precedent.

In *Post*, Tacoma found code violations on many of Paul Post's properties and assessed hundreds of thousands of dollars in civil penalties. 167 Wn.2d at 303. Tacoma's code provided that property owners were subject to civil penalties if they did not respond to an initial notice of civil violation, or if the violation was not corrected. The code called for a series of four successive, mandatory fines, which imposed between \$125 and \$250 each. *Id.* at 304–05. But under Tacoma's code, only the first of these four fines was subject to any appeal or review. *Id.* at 305. Further, after the first four fines were imposed, the code permitted city officials to assess fines every calendar day, and gave city officials discretion to impose these successive daily fines. The code afforded no procedure for review of these discretionary, daily fines. *Id.* 

Post argued Tacoma's code violated his due process rights by providing no mechanism to challenge the subsequent fines. The Court agreed, concluding, "Where a local jurisdiction assesses civil penalties for noncriminal violations of law but provides <u>no opportunity</u> for civil defendants to be heard, the fundamental due process right to an opportunity to be heard at a meaningful time is violated." *Id.* at 314 (emphasis added).

The Court reasoned that Tacoma's code only provided Post an opportunity to be heard on the first finding of violation and penalty, but Post had "no opportunity to bring potential errors to Tacoma's attention with regard to any subsequent findings or penalties." *Id.* at 313–14. The Court held, "[W]here local jurisdictions issue infractions (finding violations and assessing penalties), there must be some express procedure available by which citizens may bring errors to the attention of their government and thereby guard against the erroneous deprivation of their interests." *Id.* at 315.

Here, the City provided an express procedure for Kanany to appeal the Notice of Civil Violation and the daily fine imposed for continuing violation of the code. BLMC 14.130.080; BLMC 14.120.020. In the Notice of Civil Violation, the City informed Kanany that his Property was in violation of the code, that he had not responded during the 45 day voluntary compliance period the City afforded him, that a daily fine would be imposed for each continuing day of violation, and that he had 15 days to appeal. CP 57. As the Court of Appeals concluded,

Kanany was given the full opportunity to appeal all aspects of the notice of civil violation, including the ongoing daily fine. That opportunity to appeal the entire assessment of fines was the step that was absent in *Post*. The absence of that opportunity, the absence of that safeguard against erroneous deprivation of property, was the flaw that led the court in *Post* to find a due process violation under *Mathews*. Here, that safeguard is fully present.

### Kanany, 340 P.3d at 970.

Further, unlike *Post*, the daily fines were imposed here as part of a continuing violation, and were automatically imposed until the violation was remedied. As the Court of Appeals explained, unlike *Post*, here "there was nothing discretionary about the daily fines at issue. They were automatic, and Kanany had the full opportunity to appeal the continuing fines for his specific violation." *Kanany*, 340 P.3d at 970; Appendix at 9.

Kanany also contends that the Court of Appeals' decision wrongly limited the application of *Post* to actions brought under the Land Use Petition Act, Chapter 36.70C RCW. This is incorrect. The Court of Appeals merely noted that some of Kanany's citations to *Post* came from a portion of the opinion discussing a statutory argument involving LUPA, not the portion of the case addressing procedural due process. The Court of Appeals properly noted that portion of *Post* did not support Kanany's argument. *Kanany*, 340 P.3d at 970 n.4. While Kanany argues the hearing

examiner system is "incomplete," because a hearing examiner would not have jurisdiction to hear constitutional and equitable arguments against the fines imposed, Petition at 10–14, constitutional and equitable arguments can still be raised through appeals to state courts. BLMC 14.120.020(G); *Kanany*, 340 P.3d at 970 n.4; Appendix at 11 n.4.

# B. Because Kanany Failed to Properly Raise an Argument Regarding Excessive Fines, That Issue Provides No Basis for This Court's Review

Kanany contends, as he did in his motion for reconsideration of the appellate decision in this case, that the Court of Appeals wrongly ignored his argument regarding excessive fines. But Kanany failed to adequately address the issue in his briefing.

Kanany did not clearly present an excessive fines violation as separate basis for reversal, distinct from his procedural due process argument. See Br. of Appellant at 23. In his formulation of the issues on appeal, Kanany did not identify a violation of Article 1, Section 14 of the Washington State Constitution. Br. of Appellant at 3; RAP 10.3(a)(4) (requiring appellants to identify assignments of error and issues pertaining to those errors). Instead, Kanany's briefing on appeal only discussed the amount of the fines in the context of arguing his procedural due process violation: he contended that given the interest at stake, the procedural

protections afforded by the City were insufficient. Br. of Appellant at 3 (identifying procedures as error in Issue No. 1), 22–25. Further, while Kanany's briefing mentioned Article 1, Section 14, the authority he cited regarding excessive fines was contained in a single footnote which merely states blackletter law and provides no analysis. *Id.* at 24 n.50.

Kanany insufficiently briefed this claimed constitutional violation, and failed to set it forth as a separate issue warranting reversal in his briefs. See State v. Ladson, 86 Wn. App. 822, 829, 939 P.2d 223 (1997) (quoting In re Rosier, 105 Wn.2d 606, 616, 717 P.2d 1353 (1986)) ("Parties raising constitutional issues must present considered arguments to this court. We reiterate our previous position: 'naked castings into the constitutional sea are not sufficient to command judicial consideration and discussion.'"); City's Response to Mot. for Reconsideration at 8-10 (Feb. 13, 2015). The Court of Appeals properly did not reach this issue. Appendix at 9 n.3 ("No issue is raised whether the total amount of the fines assessed is excessive as a remedial measure."). Kanany's belated attempts to more fully brief this issue, both in his motion for reconsideration and his petition for review, are an attempt to circumvent the rules of appellate procedure.

# C. The Court of Appeals' Conclusion Regarding Subject Matter Jurisdiction Does Not Conflict With Other Appellate Decisions

Kanany contends that the superior court should have dismissed the City's suit because the City did not name Navid, the co-owner of the Property, as a co-defendant. Kanany contends this failure deprived the superior court of subject matter jurisdiction. Kanany's argument is contrary to this Court's decisions.

Preliminarily, the Court of Appeals concluded that Kanany's briefing on this issue was insufficient, and did not require judicial consideration. Appendix at 16 (Kanany "failed to provide sufficient argument or provide relevant authority sufficient to merit further judicial review."). This Court should agree, and need go no further in its inquiry.

Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals noted in a footnote that Kanany's argument misunderstood the nature of subject matter jurisdiction. Appendix at 16 n.7. The Court of Appeals stated, "a court's jurisdiction does not depend on the presence or absence of a party." Appendix at 16 n.7 (citing *Wimberly v. Caravello*, 136 Wn. App. 327, 333, 149 P.3d 402 (2006)). A superior court's subject matter jurisdiction is defined by the state constitution, and not, as Kanany contends, by statute, municipal code, or CR 19.

Superior courts have broad subject matter jurisdiction, encompassing all cases in which jurisdiction has not been vested exclusively in some other court. Appendix at 16 n. 7 (citing CONST. ART. IV, § 6)). The type of controversy determines whether a court has subject matter jurisdiction. "If the type of controversy is within the subject matter jurisdiction, then all other defects or errors go to something other than subject matter jurisdiction." Williams v. Leone & Keeble, Inc., 171 Wn.2d 726, 730, 254 P.3d 818 (2011) (citation and quotation omitted). It is undisputed that jurisdiction over this type of controversy is not vested elsewhere.

4

This Court has stated that "[t]he indispensable party doctrine is not jurisdictional, but founded on equitable considerations." *Lindberg v. County of Kitsap*, 133 Wn.2d 729, 744–56, 948 P.2d 805 (1997). "[A] court's jurisdiction does not turn on the presence or absence of a party. Instead, failure to join [a party] affects only the court's authority over the absent party." *Saunders v. Meyers*, 175 Wn. App. 427, 306 P.3d 978 (2013). *See also Wimberly*, 136 Wn. App. at 334.

The case that Kanany relies on, Spokane Airports v. RMA, Inc., 149 Wn. App. 930, 942, 206 P.3d 364 (2009), is no longer good law. Spokane Airports held that failure to join a party required by statute deprived the court of subject matter jurisdiction, relying on Laffranchie v. Lim, 146 Wn.

App. 376, 190 P.3d 97 (2008). But since issuing the Laffranchie decision, Division One has called the case "incorrectly reasoned," stating "it is incorrect to say that the court acquires subject matter jurisdiction from an action taken by a party or that it loses subject matter jurisdiction as a result of a party's failure to act." MHM & FLLC v. Pryor, 168 Wn. App. 451, 459-60, 277 P.3d 62 (2012). See also ZDI Gaming, Inc. v. State ex re. Washington State Gambling Comm'n, 173 Wn.2d 608, 616-18, 268 P.3d 929 (2012); Williams v. Leone & Keeble, Inc., 171 Wn.2d 726, 730, 734, 250 P.3d 818 (2011)); MHM & F, 168 Wn. App. at 459 (citing State v. Posey, 174 Wn.2d 131, 272 P.3d 840, 842-45 (2012)).5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Kanany's arguments that Navid is a necessary party under CR 19 and the BLMC likewise fail. While Kanany relies on BLMC 14.130.070 and .080, nothing in either of these provisions requires that the City issue a Notice of Civil Violation against all co-owners of a property. In fact, BLMC 14.130.020(B) explicitly permits enforcement of code violations against persons other than the owners. BLMC 14.130.020(B) (City may enforce code violation against owner or "any other responsible person."). Here, the City determined Kanany was the party responsible for the code violation. *See* Br. of Respondent at 17–18.

Further, CR 19(a)(2)(A) did not require the superior court to join Navid or dismiss the action. CR 19(a)(2)(A) provides that a person shall be joined if "he claims an interest relating to the subject of the action and is so situated that the disposition of the action in his absence may [] as a practical matter impair or impede his ability to protect that interest[.]" CR 19(a)(2)(A). Here, Navid's interest in the property was not impaired by the City's collection of fines from Kanany. The action did not concern title to jointly-owned property. BLMC 14.130.100 clearly states that a monetary penalty resulting from a code violation "constitutes a personal obligation of the person to whom the notice of civil violation is directed." BLMC 14.130.100. And under RCW 4.56.190, any judgment lien on the property would only affect Kanany's interest, not Navid's. RCW 4.56.190 ("If a judgment debtor owns real estate, subject to execution, jointly or in common with any other person, the judgment shall be a lien on the interest of the defendant only.").

# D. The City's Municipal Code is Neither Inconsistent with State Law, Nor Provides a Basis for Granting Review Under RAP 13.4(b).

Kanany contends that the City's municipal code provision prohibiting accessory dwelling units on his property, BLMC 18.22.090(C)(1), is in direct conflict with other provisions of the code, the City's comprehensive plan, and the Growth Management Act, Chapter 36.70A RCW.

The Court of Appeals squarely addressed and rejected these contentions in the unpublished portion of its opinion. Appendix at 14–16. Former BLMC 18.16.020 is not in conflict with BLMC 18.22.090(C)(1): the former code provision provides that ADUs are permitted in the R-2 zone, but expressly states that this rule is subject to other provisions of the code. Former BLMC 18.16.020 (stating ADUs are permitted in the R-2 zone "subject to . . .other provisions and exceptions set forth in this code"). BLMC 18.22.090(C)(1) is just such a provision, stating that ADUs are not permitted on the same lot as a duplex. Likewise, Kanany establishes no inconsistency between the comprehensive plan and the municipal code, nor the Growth Management Act and the municipal code. Appendix at 15–16.

Further, these claimed errors do not involve issues of significant constitutional importance or public interest. Their significance is limited to this case.

### V. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny Kanany's petition for review. The Court of Appeals' well-reasoned decision is not in conflict with any decision of this Court or the Court of Appeals. The various arguments addressed in the unpublished portion of the Court of Appeals' decision involve no significant constitutional issues, nor issues of substantial public interest. For these reasons, the City respectfully requests the Court deny the petition for review.